RECEIVED

Jan 12 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
William A. McKinnon, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2021-CP-46-01792
Appellate Case No. 2025-001362

Eswin Aguilar, Appellant,

v.

AGCO Corp., Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

STUDEMAYER LAW FIRM, P.C.

s/ Ryan G. Studemeyer

J. Gregory Studemeyer (S.C. Bar No.: 5416)
Ryan G. Studemeyer (S.C. Bar No.: 102578)
7478 Carlisle Street
P.O. Box 1014
Irmo, S.C. 29063
(803) 393-4399

Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR BY ADOPTING RESPONDENT'S ALLEGATIONS, INCLUDING ALLEGATIONS WHICH LACK SUPPORT IN THE RECORD, AS "UNDISPUTED MATERIAL FACTS?"
- II. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT COMMIT AN ERROR OF LAW IN HOLDING THAT A BREACH OF WARRANTY CANNOT BE THE BASIS OF AN UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICE ACT VIOLATION?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the Order on Defendant AGCO Corp.'s Motion for Summary Judgment ("Order") entered by the Honorable William A. McKinnon on March 27, 2025, granting partial summary judgment in favor of Respondent AGCO Corp., dismissing Appellant's causes of action for conversion, civil conspiracy, violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act ("SCUTPA"), and violation of the South Carolina Fair Practices of Farm, Construction, Industrial, and Outdoor Power Equipment Manufacturers, Distributors, Wholesalers, and Dealers Act ("Farm Equipment Manufacturers, Distributors, and Dealers Act"). Appellant's remaining causes of action are breach of express warranty and negligent bailment.

This case arises from Appellant's purchase of a defective 2019 Massey Ferguson MF4707 tractor (the "Tractor") from Nance Tractor and Implement, Inc. ("Nance"), which was manufactured and distributed by Respondent, and financed by AGCO Finance, LLC ("AGCO Finance"). AGCO Finance is a joint venture of Respondent and DLL, the finance subsidiary of Rabobank. (R. pp. 892, 1344).

This action was initiated by the filing of a summons and complaint on June 8, 2021. Therein, the Appellant stated causes of action against Respondent, Nance, and AGCO, alleging that Respondent distributed a retail installment contract ("RISC") to its authorized dealers (including Nance) containing an arbitrary "administration fee" and other unconscionable, non-

conspicuous terms; manufactured and distributed the defective Tractor; and breached the Limited Warranty which accompanied Appellant's purchase by refusing to replace the Tractor after its many attempts to repair failed to remedy the trouble. On August 10, 2021, Appellant served an amended complaint containing the addition of several new factual allegations. On September 26, 2022, Nance was dismissed as a party to the action.

On November 17, 2022, the circuit court granted leave for Appellant to serve a second amended and supplemental complaint containing new factual allegations which arose from Respondent's initial discovery responses and causes of action for conversion and civil conspiracy. On December 2, 2022, Respondent filed a motion to dismiss.

On March 10, 2023, with leave of the circuit court, Appellant served a third amended complaint containing an additional cause of action against the Respondent for negligent bailment. The Respondent subsequently moved to dismiss the third amended complaint on March 24, 2023. AGCO Finance was dismissed as a party to the action on May 9, 2023.

The circuit court denied Respondent's motion to dismiss in its entirety on August 17, 2023. Respondent subsequently filed a late answer on September 12, 2023. On September 13, 2023, Appellant moved for the entry of default and a default judgment. Respondent subsequently filed a motion to enlarge the time to respond to the third amended complaint and to strike the affidavit of default pursuant to Rule 55(c), SCRCF. On September 19, 2024, Respondent filed an amended and supplemental motion.

On October 10, 2023, Appellant filed a memorandum in opposition, arguing, *inter alia*, that Respondent had failed to offer a satisfactory explanation for the default, and that the good cause standard under Wham had not been met because Respondent had offered no meritorious defense other than to refer to the arguments raised in its unsuccessful motion to dismiss.

Appellant further brought to the circuit court's attention Respondent's failure to supplement its answers to the Appellant's first set of interrogatories—inquiring as to where the Tractor had been taken on April 28, 2021; the repairs performed on the Tractor since April 28, 2021; and the present location of the Tractor.¹ The answers, served on October 13, 2021 and incorporated into the Third Amended Complaint as Exhibit C, stated that Respondent did not know where the Tractor was taken on April 28, 2021; Respondent had no knowledge of what repairs had been performed on the Tractor; and that Respondent was unaware of where the Tractor was being held. The answers all referred to an ongoing “investigation” and stated that the answers would be supplemented when the investigation was complete.

On October 11, 2023, Respondent filed a response with exhibits containing supplemental discovery production and affidavits of Respondent's employees Jacob Willis and Phillip Conner. With respect to the negligent bailment claim, Respondent suddenly broke with previous representations and claimed, “it has been and is aware of the location of the tractor, which is in Westminster, South Carolina.”² The parties appeared before Judge McKinnon on October 16, 2023, for a motions hearing. The circuit court denied Appellant's motion for default judgment and granted Respondent's motion for relief from the entry of default pursuant to Rule 55(c), SCRPC.

On February 20, 2024, Appellant served a fourth amended complaint containing an additional cause of action under the Farm Equipment Manufacturers, Distributors, and Dealers Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 39-6-10, et seq. Respondent filed an answer to the fourth amended complaint on March 5, 2024.

Appellant alleges that the terms of the RISC presented to him at the time of purchase violated the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act. Appellant alleges that Respondent

¹ (R. pp. 65 – 66, par. 26 – 28).

² (R. p. 842).

conspired with its authorized dealers and AGCO Finance³ to distribute these adhesion contracts containing non-conspicuous, unconscionable terms with the intention to mislead, deceive, and oppress consumers.

Appellant alleges that Respondent further violated the Farm Equipment Manufacturers, Distributors, and Dealers Act. Appellant alleges that that Respondent broadly engaged in unfair methods of competition and unfair and deceptive acts or practices declared unlawful by S.C. Code Ann. § 39-6-50, including: allowing its authorized dealers and AGCO Finance—a joint venture of the Respondent and DLL—to charge administrative fees and hidden add-on fees as an additional revenue stream; retrieving the Appellant’s Tractor on April 28, 2021, without providing any sort of update as to whereabouts or repair status for at least six (6) months; and by refusing to refund or replace Appellant’s defective Tractor after two years of constant mechanical failure.

Appellant alleges that AGCO breached the terms of the express “AGCO LIMITED WARRANTY” (the “warranty”) which accompanied the purchase of the Tractor because although Respondent attempted to repair it many times, the Tractor nevertheless continued to break down throughout the two-year warranty period and the trouble was never remedied. Finally, Appellant alleges that Respondent committed actionable conversion by failing to advise of the repair status or account for the whereabouts of the Tractor after April 28, 2021, when Respondent arrived at the Appellant’s residence and hauled the Tractor away without any sort of explanation as to what would happen next.

On September 16, 2024, Appellant filed a motion for summary judgment and memorandum in support which was based on the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, admissions on file, and affidavits—including the affidavit of Jacob Willis previously filed on October 12, 2023

³ According to AGCO’s website (www.agcocorp.com/finance.html), AGCO Finance specializes in providing loan and lease financing to AGCO’s retail customers to buy tractors, combine harvesters, and other farm equipment.

(hereinafter, “Affidavit of Jacob Willis I”). A hearing was scheduled for Monday, October 21, 2024.

On Friday, October 18, 2024, Respondent filed a second affidavit of Jacob Willis (hereinafter, “Affidavit of Jacob Willis II”). Therein, Willis attested to the content of communications he allegedly had with Appellant in 2021 which were omitted from the prior affidavit.⁴ Nevertheless, Willis’ eleventh-hour recollections created the appearance of a genuine issue of material fact.

The parties appeared before the Honorable Marvin H. Dukes, III, for a hearing on Appellant’s motion for summary judgment via Webex. On October 30, 2024, Judge Dukes issued a Form 4 order denying Appellant’s motion for summary judgment.

On February 26, 2025, Respondent filed a motion for summary judgment. The parties appeared before Judge McKinnon for a hearing via Webex on March 13, 2025. The burden of proof was almost immediately placed upon Appellant to convince the circuit court that Respondent was not entitled to summary judgment.

At the conclusion of the hearing, the circuit court directed Respondent’s counsel to submit a proposed order granting summary judgment in favor of Respondent as to four (4) out of six (6) of Appellant’s causes of action. On March 27, 2025, the circuit court adopted Respondent’s proposed order nearly verbatim. The Order reflects the improper burden-shifting which took place at the hearing and adopts several “undisputed” facts which Appellant adamantly disputes. As to

⁴ In paragraph 5, Willis attested: “Shortly thereafter [April 28, 2021], during a phone call I had with Mr. Aguilar, he requested that Nance not perform any further work on the Tractor.” (Aff. Jacob Willis II, ¶ 5). In response, AGCO agreed to arrange for the Tractor to be taken to another AGCO dealer for repair. If AGCO performed unauthorized repairs as suggested by Willis, then AGCO admits that it is liable for conversion. See Green v. Waidner, 284 S.C. 35, 324 S.E.2d 331 (1984).

the facts not in dispute, there was a fundamental disagreement concerning the conclusion to be drawn from those facts.

On April 4, 2025, Appellant filed a motion to alter or amend pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCF. The parties appeared before Judge McKinnon for a hearing via Webex on June 11, 2025. On June 27, 2025, the circuit court denied Appellant's motion to alter or amend. This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant resides on a 42-acre tract in Ridgeway, South Carolina, with his wife. (R. p. 207, line 23 – p. 208, line 2). Appellant needed a large tractor to mow the grass. (R. p. 211, line 6 – p. 212, line 3). Appellant owns a landscaping business; he admittedly contemplated using the Tractor to plant and water trees on approximately one or two acres of his property for the benefit of his business. (R. p. 203, line 18 – p. 204, line 14; p. 209, lines 6 – 9).

On or about April 24, 2019, Appellant purchased the Tractor from Nance, which was manufactured and distributed by Respondent and financed by AGCO Finance, for the sum of \$51,200.00. (R. p. 68, par. 11). Pursuant to the terms of the RISC, Appellant agreed to pay AGCO Finance thirty-six (36) monthly installment payments of \$1518.16. (R. pp. 86 – 88). The RISC required a signature only on the first page. (R. pp. 86 – 88). The Appellant neither signed nor initialed any other pages of the RISC. (R. p. 415, line 15 – p. 416, line 13).

The second page of the RISC, buried in fine print, contained a limitation of damages clause purporting to bar the recovery of special, incidental or consequential damages, as well as a waiver of the right to jury trial. (R. p. 69, par. 21 – 22). Appellant was unable to read the terms on the

second page of the RISC at all. (R. p. 416, lines 2 – 5). Nobody at Nance attempted to read the terms on the second page of the RISC to Appellant.⁵ (R. p. 415, lines 3 – 14).

The RISC contained a \$175.00 “administration fee.” (R. p. 69, par. 24). The RISC did not explain the purpose for the fee, except that “all or a portion of this fee may be shared between the Assignee and the Seller and that Assignee and Seller may make a profit on this fee.” (R. p. 70, par. 25). Nobody at Nance told Appellant what the fee was for, but he understood that he had to pay the fee if he wanted to buy the Tractor. (R. p. 415, lines 3 – 14).

Appellant’s purchase of the Tractor was accompanied by an express warranty that the goods were “free from defects in materials and workmanship” and that the Massey Ferguson 4700 series of tractors had powertrain warranty coverage for “TWENTY-FOUR (24) MONTHS OR TWO THOUSAND (2000) HOURS WHICHEVER COMES FIRST.” (R. p. 76, par. 84; R. p. 547). Respondent’s powertrain warranty further stated that “the company will repair or replace, at its option, without charge for parts or labor, during normal working hours, any defective engine casting, transmission casting, drive axle casting, and/or components enclosed within these castings for an additional twelve (12) month period provided that the tractor had not been used more than 2000 hours, whichever comes first.” (R. p. 76, par. 85; R. p. 547).

The Tractor and the operator’s manual were delivered by Nance to Appellant’s property in Ridgeway on April 29, 2019. (R. p. 70, par. 32). Appellant understood that the Tractor was covered by warranty, but Appellant was not provided with a copy of the warranty before or at the time of purchase. (R. p. 227, lines 4 – 13). Unbeknownst to Appellant, page 63 of the operator’s manual required the purchaser to request a copy of the warranty from the dealer in order to see it. (R. p. 75, par. 75). The warranty itself provides that “the remedies of the Owner set forth herein

⁵ Upon information and belief, nobody could fully read the terms because they are illegible. Even Respondent’s counsel had to concede this point during Appellant’s deposition. (R. p. 383, lines 10 – 22).

are *exclusive*” and required Appellant to pay for the cost of towing the Tractor back and forth to the nearest AGCO dealer, even when repairs were necessitated by product defects and covered by the warranty. (R. p. 548).

Appellant began to experience mechanical problems with the Tractor almost immediately. (R. p. 70, par. 33). Over the two-year warranty period, in which the Tractor was warranted to be free of defects for up to 2000 hours, Appellant was able to operate the Tractor for just 355 hours. (R. p. 256, lines 2 – 6; p. 348, lines 17 – 23). On October 9, 2019, the Tractor broke down for the first time. (R. p. 71, par. 34). A representative of Nance directed Appellant to call Jacob Willis (“Willis”), an agent of Respondent. (R. p. 244, lines 2 – 12). This became Appellant’s standard practice thereafter. (R. p. 244, lines 15-17). The Tractor was towed to Nance and a maintenance work order dated November 5, 2019, confirms that a broken gear in the transmission housing needed to be replaced and the repairs were covered under the manufacturer’s warranty. (R. p. 71, par. 38). The Tractor was not returned until January 1, 2020, and was not used again until the spring. (R. p. 71, par. 39 – 41).

On July 20, 2020, the Tractor broke down again. (R. 71, par. 42). A maintenance work order dated September 28, 2020, confirms that a broken shaft in the transmission as well as a fuel gauge needed to be replaced, and that Nance performed a “software update,” all of which were covered under Respondent’s warranty. (R. p. 72, par. 46). The Tractor broke down very shortly upon its return. (R. p. 72, par. 46). A maintenance work order dated October 15, 2020, confirms that repairs to the 4-Wheel Drive (4WD) system and the replacement of a bleeder screw were covered under Respondent’s warranty once more. (R. p. 72, par. 47).

Respondent dispatched David Sumner (“Sumner”) to Appellant’s property shortly after the Tractor was returned on October 20, 2020, to perform a diagnostic inspection. (R. p. 241, line 22

– p. 242, line 4). The Tractor was towed back to Nance, and a maintenance work order dated January 8, 2021, confirms that Nance replaced the hydraulic pump and flushed the hydraulic system multiple times, and that the repairs were covered under the warranty. (R. p. 73, par. 61). On or about January 12, 2021, Respondent agreed to extend the warranty. (R. p. 74, par. 65).

On April 21, 2021, the Tractor broke down on the first occasion that Appellant attempted to use it after the most recent warranty repairs. (R. p. 74, par. 66). Convinced that the Tractor was a lemon, Appellant called Willis and demanded that Respondent either “replace” the Tractor or refund him. (R. p. 252, line 23 – p. 253, line 4). Respondent refused to do either. (R. p. 253, lines 11 – 22). The Tractor was picked up by Respondent on April 28, 2021. (R. p. 74, par. 68). For several years, none of the parties knew where the Tractor was taken or whether any repairs had been performed, although Respondent later claimed that the Tractor had been taken to Nance, before being transported to Powell Tractor Inc. (“Powell”) in Westminster, South Carolina. (R. p. 1039, par. 26 – 27; R. p. 1054, par. 26). Respondent cannot produce any documents which would prove that the Tractor was ever taken to Nance. (R. p. 1042, par. 6).

In any case, there was no further contact between the parties between April 28, 2021, and October 29, 2021. (R. p. 1364, par. 6 – 7). On October 29, 2021, Willis called Appellant. (R. p. 1364, par. 7). The content of the conversation is in dispute, but Respondent has asserted that Appellant was informed that the Tractor was at Powell and was “ready” to be returned. (R. p. 1361, par. 3). Appellant denies this and Respondent has further admitted that there are work orders from Powell related to the repair of the Tractor which are dated through January 3, 2022. (R. p. 362, line 10 – p. 363, line 25; R. p. 1044, par. 10).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, the appellate court applies the same standard that governs the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRPC.” Boyd v. BellSouth Telephone Telegraph Co., Inc., 369 S.C. 410, 415, 633 S.E.2d 136, 138 (2006).

Under Rule 56(c), SCRPC, a party is entitled to summary judgment if the “pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show there is no genuine issue as to any material fact.” Rule 56, SCRPC. The party *seeking* summary judgment has the burden of clearly establishing the *absence* of a genuine issue of material fact by the above-described means. Brandt v. Gooding, 368 S.C. 618, 626, 630 S.E.2d 259, 263 (2006). [emphasis added]. Only once the moving party carries its initial burden does the burden shift to the non-moving party to “come forward with specific facts that show there is a genuine issue of fact remaining for trial.” Sides v. Greenville Hosp. System, 362 S.C. 250, 255, 607 S.E.2d 362, 364 (Ct. App. 2004).

In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist for summary judgment purposes, the evidence and all the inferences which can be reasonably drawn from the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Fleming v. Rose, 350 S.C. 488, 493–94, 567 S.E.2d 857, 860 (2002); Conner v. City of Forest Acres, 348 S.C. 454, 462, 560 S.E.2d 606, 610 (2002).

ARGUMENT

I. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR BY ADOPTING RESPONDENT'S ALLEGATIONS, INCLUDING ALLEGATIONS WHICH LACK SUPPORT IN THE RECORD, AS "UNDISPUTED MATERIAL FACTS?"

"Because it is a drastic remedy, summary judgment should be cautiously invoked to ensure that a litigant is not improperly deprived of a trial on disputed factual issues." BPS, Inc. v. Worthy, 362 S.C. 319, 326, 608 S.E.2d 155, 159 (Ct. App. 2005).

Respondent was never compelled to offer any argument in support of its motion as to Appellant's claims for conversion, civil conspiracy, violation of the SCUTPA, and violation of the Farm Equipment Manufacturers, Distributors, and Dealers Act. The movant must satisfy its "*initial burden*" under Rule 56 by showing the absence of a genuine issue of material fact before the burden shifts to the non-moving party to identify specific facts in dispute. Sides v. Greenville Hosp. Sys., 362 S.C. 250, 255, 607 S.E.2d 362, 364 (Ct. App. 2004). [*Emphasis added*]. Respondent was only required to argue as to Appellant's breach of warranty cause of action before the circuit court intervened and shifted the burden to the Appellant to rebut the entirety of Respondent's motion.

Respondent has asserted that it did, in fact, satisfy its initial burden by submitting a "well-supported motion" prior to the hearing. The circuit court expressed that it was familiar with the contents of Respondent's motion, supporting memoranda, and exhibits—while also expressing it was not familiar with the arguments in Appellant's memorandum in opposition. (R. p. 144, lines 1 – 10; p. 146, lines 12 – 14). Exhibit A ("Exhibit A") to Respondent's motion for summary judgment was titled "Statement of Undisputed Material Facts in Support of Summary Judgment."

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