THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Nov 05 2025

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
York County
The Honorable William A. McKinnon

Appellate Case No. 2025-001362
Civil Action No. 2021-CP-46-01792

Eswin Aguilar,
..... Appellant,

v.

AGCO Corp.,
..... Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

A. Mattison Bogan
NELSON MULLINS RILEY &
SCARBOROUGH, LLP
SC Bar No. 72629
Email:
matt.bogan@nelsonmullins.com
1320 Main Street, 17th Floor
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 255-9589

Jake Carroll
NELSON MULLINS RILEY
& SCARBOROUGH, LLP
(Admitted *Pro Hac Vice*)
Email:
jake.carroll@nelsonmullins.com
Atlantic Station
21 17th Street NW, Suite 1700

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Circuit Court Properly Granted Partial Summary Judgment Because the Record Shows No Genuine Issue of Material Fact and AGCO Is Entitled to Judgment as a Matter of Law.

Appellant identifies no substantive error in the court’s rulings. Rather, he focuses on matters of form over substance and relies on conjecture about the court’s reasoning—neither of which provides a basis for reversal. *See Warren v. Lagrone*, 12 S.C. 45, 51 (1879) (appellate court cannot consider grounds of appeal based solely upon “surmise and conjecture”). This Court may affirm “any ruling, order, or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record.” *I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 418, 526 S.E.2d 716, 722 (2000) (quoting Rule 220(c), SCACR). The court reviewed the record and granted summary judgment on each challenged claim—conversion, civil conspiracy, SCUTPA, and FPA.

A. The circuit court applied Rule 56’s burden-shifting framework.

Appellant contends that AGCO was “never compelled to offer any argument in support of its motion” and that the court did not consider the briefs and supporting materials. *See* Appellant Br. at 11–12. The record refutes that. The court reviewed the briefs and supporting materials and invited Appellant to respond. *See* Order on Def.’s Mot. for Summ. J. (Mar. 27, 2025) at 1 (R. __) (“After careful consideration of the briefs, supporting materials the parties submitted, oral argument presented by counsel, and applicable law”); Order Den. Mot. to Alter or Amend (June 27, 2025) at 1 (R. __) (“After careful consideration of the briefs, oral argument presented by counsel, and applicable law”). That is an ordinary sequence once the movant has met its burden. *See Baughman v. Am. Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 115, 410 S.E.2d 537, 545 (1991) (once the moving party carries its initial burden, Rule 56(e) requires the nonmoving party to “come forward with specific facts showing that there is a *genuine issue for trial*”) (citation and marks omitted).

But Rule 56 does not prescribe the sequence of oral argument. Where the record is developed and the court used the hearing to “interrogat[e] counsel” to “ascertain what material facts exist,” *see* Rule 56(d), SCRPC, it had discretion under Rule 56(d) to begin with the nonmovant. Rule 43(j) gives the movant the right to open and close the argument on a motion; it governs the order of argument, not the court’s preliminary questioning, and that right is satisfied where, as here, the court invited the nonmovant to speak first but afforded the movant an extended reply. *See* Rule 43(j), SCRPC; *see also State v. Beaty*, 423 S.C. 26, 39 n.8, 813 S.E.2d 502, 509 n.8 (2018) (noting Rule 43(j) controls the content and order of argument in civil cases).

Here, the court reviewed the briefs and supporting materials and invited Appellant to respond first—while expressly offering the movant an extended reply. *See* Hr’g Tr. Mot. for Summ. J. 7:1–3 (Mar. 13, 2025) (R. ___) (“Mr. Carroll . . . I’ve read the memo. Why don’t I just stop you. Let me hear from Mr. [Studemeyer] and I’ll give you an extended reply. Would that suit?”). That sequencing was consistent with the Rules. *See* Rule 56(d), SCRPC; Rule 43(j), SCRPC. As the court explained:

Plaintiff’s assertion of “improper burden-shifting” based on hearing sequence is unpersuasive. The record confirms the Court had reviewed AGCO’s motion and supporting materials before inviting Plaintiff’s argument—an invitation that was procedural, not substantive, and consistent with common practice where the moving party’s position is already well-briefed and documented.

Order Den. Mot. to Alter or Amend (June 27, 2025) at 2 (citing *Sides v. Greenville Hosp. Sys.*, 362 S.C. 250, 255, 607 S.E.2d 362, 364 (R. __)). And by affording the movant an extended reply, the court respected Rule 43(j)’s allocation of the open-and-close in motion practice.

The court did what Rule 56(c) requires: it evaluated the record—including pleadings, depositions, interrogatory answers, and admissions—determined that no genuine issue of material fact exists, and entered partial summary judgment. Once the movant met its Rule 56 burden, the

burden shifted to Appellant to identify record evidence creating a genuine issue of material fact as to each challenged claim. *See Baughman*, 306 S.C. at 115, 410 S.E.2d at 545. Appellant identified none.

B. The circuit court did not err in finding that AGCO is not a third-party beneficiary of the Instalment Contract.

Appellant asserts that AGCO was a third-party beneficiary of the Instalment Contract. However, Appellant previously conceded: “It is undisputed that AGCO is not a party to the [Instalment Contract].” Pl.’s Mot. to Alter or Amend (Apr. 4, 2025) at 4 (R. __).

Appellant offers no evidence that AGCO was a third-party beneficiary—only conjecture based on AGCO’s joint-venture relationship with AGCO Finance. *See* Appellant Br. at 12–14. That rests on a website statement. Hr’g Tr. Mot. to Alter or Amend 19:2–20:6; 28:4–29:3 (June 11, 2025) (R. __).. But a reference to a “joint venture” on a website is not competent proof of agency or third-party-beneficiary status. Agency in South Carolina requires evidence of the principal’s right to “direct and control.” *Watkins v. Mobil Oil Corp.*, 291 S.C. 62, 65, 352 S.E.2d 284, 286–88 (Ct. App. 1986). Here, there is no evidence that AGCO Finance had any right to direct or control AGCO, and there is no contract language showing AGCO was a direct beneficiary.

The circuit court found that:

Plaintiff’s claim that AGCO was a third-party beneficiary of the Retail Instalment Contract was unsupported by any admissible evidence. The Court relied on the Contract’s face, AGCO’s verified discovery responses, and Plaintiff’s own pleadings. Plaintiff’s conjecture about AGCO’s corporate affiliations does not create a genuine issue of material fact.

Order Den. Mot. to Alter or Amend (June 27, 2025) at 3 (R. __)

A third-party beneficiary exists only when the contracting parties intended to “directly benefit” the third party; incidental benefits do not suffice. *Helms Realty, Inc. v. Gibson-Wall Co.*, 363 S.C. 334, 340, 611 S.E.2d 485, 488 (2005). South Carolina courts reject third-party claims

where the contract language does not clearly express such intent. *See, e.g., Windsor Green Owners Ass'n, Inc. v. Allied Signal, Inc.*, 362 S.C. 12, 17–19, 605 S.E.2d 750, 752–53 (Ct. App. 2004) (holding condo HOA was not an intended third-party beneficiary of a tenant's lease; absent contract language showing intent to directly benefit the HOA); *Bob Hammond Const. Co. v. Banks Const. Co.*, 312 S.C. 422, 424–25, 440 S.E.2d 890, 891–92 (Ct. App. 1994) (rejecting third-party-beneficiary status where the contract did not manifest an intent to benefit the subcontractor; any benefit was merely incidental). These cases underscore that speculation about corporate affiliations or business relationships cannot substitute for contract text manifesting an intent to benefit the alleged beneficiary.

Appellant cites *Tiger, Inc. v. Fisher Agro, Inc.*, 301 S.C. 229, 391 S.E.2d 538 (1989). *See* Appellant Br. at 13. But *Tiger* did not hold—or analyze—that a joint venture, standing alone, makes nonparties intended beneficiaries of a separate contract. By contrast, the Supreme Court's more recent discussion in *Beverly v. Grand Strand Regional Medical Center, LLC*, confirms that third-party status turns on clear contractual promises to the third party. 432 S.C. 581, 596–603, 856 S.E.2d 561, 568–72 (2022). *Beverly* is readily distinguishable: there, the contract expressly promised benefits to Blue Cross Blue Shield of South Carolina (BCBS) members (e.g., the provider “shall seek payment for Covered Services solely from BCBS and ‘will not solicit any payment from [BCBS] Members’”). *Beverly*, 435 S.C. at 597, 869 S.E.2d at 814. Here, there is no comparable promise: the Instalment Contract contains no commitment to AGCO, no language conferring rights on AGCO, and no indication the parties intended to directly benefit AGCO.

Federal authority addressing the same AGCO dealer/finance structure is instructive. In *First v. Rolling Plains Implement Co., Inc.*, the appellant purchased a combine from an authorized dealer; it was manufactured by AGCO Corp. and financed by AGCO Finance. 108 F.4th 262, 267

(5th Cir. 2024). The appellant “believed that all AGCO entities were the same” and sued AGCO Corp. and AGCO Finance, among others. *Id.* While such “confusion may be understandable given [the] similar names,” the Fifth Circuit held that misunderstanding does not create a genuine issue of fact. *Id.* The court affirmed summary judgment for AGCO Finance on the warranty claims because the same Instalment Contract form at issue in this case contained “no warranty representations,” and declined to impute dealer statements to AGCO Corp., reiterating that “[c]orporations are distinct legal entities.” *Id.* at 272, 274.

On this record, the Instalment Contract provides no direct benefit to AGCO and no right of AGCO Finance to direct or control AGCO. Appellant’s speculation cannot supply what the Instalment Contract lacks. *See Fabian v. Lindsay*, 410 S.C. 475, 490–92, 765 S.E.2d 132, 141 (2014); *Helms Realty*, 363 S.C. at 340–41, 611 S.E.2d at 488. AGCO is not an intended third-party beneficiary of the Instalment Contract.

C. The circuit court did not err in finding that the FPA does not apply.

The FPA applies to all agreements between “a *manufacturer*, distributor, wholesaler, . . . and an *equipment dealer* including . . . all other agreements in which the manufacturer, distributor, wholesaler . . . has any direct or indirect interest. S.C. Code Ann. § 39-6-120 (emphasis added). The circuit court found “no genuine dispute of material fact that Plaintiff is not an ‘equipment dealer’ but instead operates a tree farm.” Order on Def.’s Mot. for Summ. J. (Mar. 27, 2025) at 8 (R. __). The court also found that the Instalment Contract was executed between entities not within the scope of agreements covered by the FPA—Appellant, Nance, and AGCO Finance. *See id.*

Appellant argues that AGCO has a “direct or indirect interest” in the Instalment Contract, based on its joint-venture relationship with AGCO Finance. *See Appellant Br.* at 15. That argument

fails for the same reasons that AGCO is not a third-party beneficiary of the Instalment Contract. *See supra* § I.B. This Court should affirm summary judgment on the FPA claim.

D. The circuit court did not err in rejecting the conversion claim as a matter of law.

With lawful initial possession, conversion requires a demand followed by wrongful detention. *See Moore v. Weinberg*, 373 S.C. 209, 227, 644 S.E.2d 740, 749 (Ct. App. 2007), *aff'd*, 383 S.C. 583, 681 S.E.2d 875 (2009) (plaintiff may prevail “by showing the unauthorized detention of property, after demand”); *Roberts v. James*, 160 S.C. 291, 158 S.E. 689, 691 (1931) (“Trover will not lie against one rightfully in possession. Such possession must first be transformed into a wrongful one by a refusal to surrender the property. Hence, demand and refusal are necessary”) (citation omitted). Without a demand and refusal, lawful possession does not become wrongful detention. *See Castell v. Stephenson Fin. Co.*, 244 S.C. 45, 51, 135 S.E.2d 311, 313 (1964) (“Since conversion is a wrongful act, it cannot arise from the exercise of a legal right.”).

Here, Appellant concedes that AGCO “was authorized to pick up the Tractor on April 28, 2021,” but argues that “does not mean that the Respondent was permitted to tinker with it indefinitely.” Appellant Br. at 17 (citing *Cannon v. Pulliam Motor Co.*, 230 S.C. 131, 137, 94 S.E.2d 397, 400 (1956)). First, Appellant’s “indefinite tinkering” theory sounds in warranty, not conversion. Second, the refusal-of-delivery finding is supported by undisputed record evidence. Third, Appellant’s collateral points create no genuine issue of fact.

1. Appellant’s “indefinite tinkering” theory sounds in warranty, not conversion.

Cannon addresses breach-of-warranty, not conversion. *See Cannon*, 230 S.C. at 137, 94 S.E.2d at 400. Appellant’s arguments on appeal should not be confused with claims the court let proceed. *See Order on Def.’s Mot. for Summ. J.* (Mar. 27, 2025) at 1–2 (R. __) (denying motion for summary judgment as to the breach of express-warranty and negligent-bailment claims). By

contrast, conversion turns on unauthorized control or detention. *See SSI Med. Servs., Inc. v. Cox*, 301 S.C. 493, 498, 392 S.E.2d 789, 792 (1990).

2. *The refusal-of-delivery finding is supported by undisputed record evidence.*

AGCO notified Appellant that the Tractor was repaired and ready for delivery, but he declined return and chose to litigate instead. *See* Oct. 11, 2023 Aff. of Willis ¶ 3 (R. ___); Oct. 17, 2024 Aff. of Willis ¶ 7 (R. ___). The Fourth Amended Complaint and AGCO’s Answer confirm the communication between Appellant and AGCO. *See* Compl., ¶ 79 (R. ___) (“Jacob Willis of AGCO called the Plaintiff in late October of 2021, after this action had been commenced, and the Plaintiff instructed Willis to contact his attorney.”); Answer, ¶ 79 (R. ___) (“AGCO admits only that Jacob Willis contacted Plaintiff on or about October 29, 2021 and informed him that the Tractor had been repaired and was ready to be delivered to him, but that Plaintiff responded that he did not want the Tractor and was pursuing legal action.”). Appellant also testified that AGCO told him the Tractor “was ready” and Appellant “told him he needed to talk to [his] counsel.” Aguilar Dep. 93:24–94:5 (R. ___). That is refusal. Appellant’s brief confirms the same. *See* Appellant Br. at 19–20 (Appellant “did not want the Tractor back”; Willis represented that the Tractor was “ready.”).

Either way—whether by refusing return, declining return, or electing to litigate—the effect is the same: Appellant did not demand the Tractor’s return. Conversion also requires a present right to immediate possession. *See Regions Bank v. Schmauch*, 354 S.C. 648, 667–68, 582 S.E.2d 432, 442 (Ct. App. 2003). Having declined return after a readiness notice, Appellant cannot show unauthorized detention against a present right.

3. *Appellant’s collateral points do not create a genuine issue.*

Appellant points to subsequent work orders related to the repair of the Tractor to suggest that repairs were not complete in October 2021. *See* Appellant Br. at 20. But the record confirms an October 29 notice that the Tractor was repaired and ready to be delivered, and Appellant offers no

competent contrary evidence, only speculation. *See, e.g., Kitchen Planners, LLC v. Friedman*, 440 S.C. 456, 464, 892 S.E.2d 297, 302 (2023) (where “the factfinder would be required to speculate . . . [petitioner] failed to establish a genuine issue of material fact, and [respondents] were entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law”). At most, the work orders reflect follow-up warranty work—issues the court preserved for trial under express-warranty and negligent-bailment claims, not conversion.

Likewise, whether Appellant knew the Tractor’s location or could tow it is immaterial. *See* Appellant Br. at 20. He told AGCO he did not want the Tractor returned. Speculation cannot defeat summary judgment when the “pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits,” are uncontradicted. Rule 56(c), SCRCP. Appellant must do more than raise a “metaphysical doubt” as to a material fact; he must present competent evidence creating a genuine issue of material fact. *Kitchen Planners*, 440 S.C. at 461, 892 S.E.2d at 300. Appellant cannot.

On this record, conversion fails as a matter of law. AGCO’s possession was lawful; after notice that the Tractor was repaired and ready for delivery, Appellant declined return and made no demand. His “indefinite tinkering” point sounds in warranty, and the remaining assertions create no genuine issue. This Court should affirm summary judgment.

E. The circuit court did not err in finding that SCUTPA does not apply because the transaction was commercial.

The judgment should be affirmed because SCUTPA does not apply. Two independent grounds support that conclusion: (i) the parties’ objective agreement demonstrates a commercial transaction at formation; and (ii) Appellant’s lawn-mowing assertion creates no genuine issue and identifies no impact on the public interest.

1. *First, the record establishes a commercial transaction.*

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